RECEIVED

Aug 11 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County

Honorable Debra R. McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

BRANDON LEE CORDER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-001543

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

W. CHANDLER NORVILLE
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Whether re-trial was barred by the Double Jeopardy Clause when Appellant's first trial ended in a mistrial that Appellant was goaded into moving for by the solicitor?

II.

Whether the trial court erred by refusing to exclude Appellant's statements to Officer Creech when those statements were gathered as a result of a custodial interrogation, in violation of *Miranda v. Arizona*¹?

III.

Whether the trial court erred by refusing to exclude Appellant's statements to Special Agent Beeler when Secret Service policy prohibiting Appellant from having his attorney present during questioning negated the *Miranda* warnings read to Appellant?

¹ 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

At its September 2020 term, the Lexington County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder. R. 722-23. Appellant was first brought to trial from February 27 to March 2, 2023, before the Honorable Debra R. McCaslin and a jury. Benjamin Stitely and Anna Yonge represented Appellant; Sutania Fuller and Robert E. McNair, III, represented the state. Appellant's first trial ended in a mistrial. R. 291, ll. 6-7. Appellant's case was called to trial for a second time, again before Judge McCaslin and a jury, on September 25, 2023. R. 295. Appellant was again represented by Stitely, and Fuller and McNair again represented the state. R. 295. On September 27, 2023, Appellant was convicted of murder. R. 714. Judge McCaslin sentenced him to forty-five (45) years' imprisonment. R. 718.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 27, 2019, Appellant shot and killed Joanine Youmans. In both trials, Appellant conceded as much, but he asserted that the shooting was the result of negligence and was not intentional. Appellant's express defense theory was to concede guilt on involuntary manslaughter rather than murder.

First Trial

In the beginning of the first trial, defense counsel conceded Appellant killed Youmans, his on-again-off-again girlfriend, stating, "this isn't going to be a whodunit." R. 175, l. 21. The state's theory was that Appellant intentionally shot Youmans because he was jealous that she was seeing another man. R. 168, ll. 17-25.

The state strongly opposed Appellant's request to charge involuntary manslaughter as a lesser-included offense. The state's chief contention was that Appellant was unable to possess a firearm under federal law due to a prior conviction. R. 130, ll. 14-17. Since Appellant was acting unlawfully by possessing the firearm, according to the state, involuntary manslaughter could not be charged to the jury. R. 133-134. The state would go on to assert in its closing argument that it was "murder or nothing." R. 712, ll. 23-25. The trial court ultimately disagreed and decided that it would charge the jury on involuntary manslaughter. R. 262-263 (trial court's intended charge).

During closing arguments, the state made several comments to the jury that were the subject of objections by Appellant. Most importantly, the state told the jury:

You heard on some of the audios he says it was an accident, it was an accident. It wasn't an accident, not possible. You heard the SLED expert saying the gun was working just fine. There was no manufacturer malfunction on that gun. So it's not legally an accident it's not a defense *and you'll know that because the Judge is not going to charge you on that.*

R. 277, ll. 13-19 (emphasis added). Appellant objected to this and moved for a mistrial. R. 282, ll. 14-15. Appellant also objected to the solicitor's use of the phrase "make it make sense" on several occasions, arguing that this statement constituted burden-shifting. R. 282, ll. 16-22. Appellant also objected to the solicitor also telling the jury "You have to decipher the law." R. 278, ll. 20-25; 283, ll. 7-9.²

The trial court declared a mistrial and stated:

I hate it, but I'm going to grant your mistrial and this is why, the solicitor's comment of the accident because the judge won't charge it. I feel that it brings the judge right into the jury's deliberations, and it gives them the impression that I made some ruling that I haven't made.

And, you know, it's easy for us lawyers to sit here and talk about accident, but we're talking about the legal sense of accident as to whether he is entitled to a defense or not. They don't know that. They think accident as something totally different. And in this case particularly, I've heard the word accident several times in the defendant's own statement. And I feel like he would be absolutely prejudiced. I don't know how to fix it. I don't know how to unring the bell on that particular thing.

Also there's the other two instances. Even if I could, I'd be fixing this thing three different ways that I think is totally confusing to the jury.

You have to decipher the law. Well, I could probably fix that with a jury instruction if that was the only thing, that would be an easy fix.

But and then I've got to make sense of all the facts, it needs to make sense. I can probably fix that with another jury instruction, but at

² The solicitor also stated, "Now we'll [never] know the complete truth, right? *Only two people know.*" R. 276, ll. 10-13 (emphasis added). This could be construed as commenting on Appellant's right not to testify, but it was not the subject of any objection.

some point, I think it turns on being prejudicial to the defendant.
Therefore I don't know how to fix it. I'm sorry.

R. 290, l. 6 – 291, l. 3. The trial court went on to state its belief that the improper comments “just happened” and that the solicitor did not act intentionally. R. 291, 77, ll. 4-7.

Second Trial

Motion to dismiss

Appellant's second trial began on September 25, 2023. R. 295. After the jury was selected, Appellant moved to dismiss on double jeopardy grounds. R. 297, ll. 16-18. Appellant stated that during the previous trial he had moved for a mistrial on three separate grounds. R. 300, l. 25. And “when an action by the state, specifically, a seasoned prosecutor leaves the defense attorney no option but to make a mistrial motion.... That's what *Oregon v. Kennedy*³ is talking about with goading.” R. 300, ll. 11-15. He asserted the state's goading left him with no choice but to move for a mistrial, as failure to do so would have been a violation of his ethical duties. R. 300, ll. 8-15.

The state responded that applicable law required Appellant to show “subjective intent...to intentionally spite this case” by the solicitor, which he could not do. R. 302, ll. 17-20. The state asserted that its comment, “it's not an accident and that's why the judge won't instruct you on accident” was a relatively minor mistake, and they had “rack[ed] their brains” along with the trial court and defense counsel “on how to fix that issue.” R. 303, ll. 16-21. Therefore, there “was no bad intent on” the state's part. R. 303, ll. 21-22. The state also continuously repeated that they had made only “one statement in closing argument” that was improper. R. 304, ll. 5-11. Appellant responded that one goading comment by the state was enough to satisfy the South Carolina Supreme Court's rule in *State v. Parker*, 391 S.C. 606, 707 S.E.2d 799 (2011). R. 305, ll. 4-15.

³ 456 U.S. 667 (1982).

The trial court denied the motion. R. 306. Supporting its ruling, it stated as follows:

I'm going to tell you, I remember it specifically, even though we tried this case at end of February this year. And I will say that I spent a lot of time with the lawyers trying to save this case because we had gotten all the way to closing. In fact, I even read my notes on it.

I felt like the judge was placed in the deliberations because I didn't charge something and that's why I granted a mistrial. Was it goading? No, it wasn't goading. Was it intentional? No. I don't believe that it was. I listened to it. I hate that it ended in a mistrial. I know y'all worked hard. We were at it for a week, but it, certainly, wasn't goading and it wasn't intentional. It was just a statement. And if I remember correctly, you can correct me if I'm wrong, but the word accident with involuntary and the charge of accident, I think, is, also, what we talked about that I wasn't -- I can't remember if the court was going to charge accident or not, but I think that I said no. But it was hard to distinguish between the two and that's why I felt the court had been placed in a position that it was a fact finder and the court is not, and I didn't know how to put it all back into the box. I couldn't figure a charge that would not be confusing to the jury, so I declared a mistrial.

So I'm going to deny your motion....

R. 306, ll. 1-25.

Statements to Sergeant Creech

At the beginning of the second day of the second trial, the trial court held a *Jackson v. Denno*⁴ hearing to rule on the admissibility of Appellant's statements to Sergeant Anthony Creech. R. 432, *et seq.* Appellant testified at this hearing that when the police originally arrived at his home on the day in question, he was on his hands and knees vomiting. R. 440, ll. 13-15. The first officer that he spoke to that day was Detective Sherban. R. 439, ll. 22-24. Sherban approached Appellant

⁴ 378 U.S. 368 (1964).

while he was laying on the ground in front of his front porch. R. 440, ll. 13-15. At the time, there were approximately twelve (12) law enforcement personnel at the home. R. 440, ll. 16-19.

At some point after Appellant spoke to Sherban, he was approached by Sergeant Creech, who told Appellant he wanted to speak to him inside his patrol vehicle. R. 441, ll. 1-2. At no time after police began arriving did Appellant feel he was free to leave, and he was within “an extreme close proximity” to a police officer at all times once the police arrived at his home. R. 441, ll. 3-17. When Appellant got into Creech’s patrol vehicle, there were other police officers around the vehicle. R. 441, ll. 16-17. Creech began questioning Appellant but did not initially read Appellant his *Miranda* rights. R. 441, ll. 18-23. Creech would not read *Miranda* to Appellant until some point later in the questioning. R. 442, ll. 6-13. On cross-examination, Appellant confirmed that he had prior encounters with law enforcement but stated that he did not fully understand *Miranda* at the time of Creech’s questioning. R. 444, ll. 1-14.

Sergeant Creech testified next. R. 458, l. 15. Creech conceded that, while he had had some insignificant conversation with Appellant, his “questioning in earnest” did not begin until Appellant was in the vehicle. R. 461, ll. 7-12. At that point, Creech “ask[ed] [Appellant] several questions or point[ed] out inconsistencies prior to reading *Miranda*....” R. 461, ll. 16-18. In fact, one of the first things Sergeant Creech said to Appellant was “I’m just going to rip the band-aid off here,” and “I know somebody didn’t shoot her from the woods...and I know you own guns, and I know there’s guns on the property.” State’s Exhibit 7 (BWC Audio)(on file with this Court).⁵ Creech stated that, had Appellant tried to get out of the patrol car and run away, the police would not have stopped him because they had no reason at that time to detain him. R. 462, ll. 18-22.

⁵ This exhibit was entered at the first trial, but not the second trial. The exhibit was entered at the reconstruction hearing as State’s Exhibit 7. R. 702, ¶ 3.

However, Creech noted that this sort of behavior would be uncommon, as he had never seen that happen in his fourteen (14) years of law enforcement experience. R. 463, ll. 1-8. Creech further noted that, while he had previously testified that he was unaware of any officers around his vehicle while he was talking to Appellant, he was familiar with a report prepared by another officer who stated he was instructed to monitor the passenger door of Creech's vehicle while Creech was speaking with Appellant. R. 467, ll. 16-25. Creech went on to state that he requested this only after Appellant continued to make statements post-*Miranda*, but there was no timeline in the report to verify that. R. 468, ll. 1-13. Creech testified on cross-examination that when he first arrived on scene, police had no reason to believe that Appellant killed Youmans. R. 465, ll. 10-13. Creech's testimony was contradicted by the recording of the interview, where Creech immediately began accusing Appellant of being involved in the killing. State's Exhibit 7 (on file with this Court).

Appellant argued that his statements to Creech should be excluded because the interview was a custodial interrogation once Appellant was placed in Creech's vehicle. R. 469, ll. 16-19. Appellant asserted that this was a violation of *Miranda* and *Missouri v. Seibert*.⁶ R. 470, ll. 4-8. Appellant then clarified that he was not seeking to exclude the statements made after *Miranda* was issued. R. 470, ll. 9-12. The state responded that police did not believe at the time that Appellant was a suspect and thus could not have placed him in custody. R. 471, ll. 10-25. The state also asserted that the trial court had ruled the statements admissible during the last trial and that nothing had changed to alter that ruling. R. 472, ll. 15-20.

The trial court ruled that the statements were admissible. R. 474, l. 6. In support of its ruling, the trial court found that Appellant was not in custody when Sergeant Creech began his questioning. R. 474, ll. 7-10. The trial court pointed to the fact that Appellant spoke with three (3)

⁶ 542 U.S. 600 (2000).

other police officers, was not in handcuffs, and there was no evidence of coercion or misrepresentation. R. 474, ll. 10-15. The trial court also found that Appellant was not impaired, was thirty-two (32) years old, a high school graduate, and had prior encounters with law enforcement. R. 474, ll. 16-22.

During trial, Appellant testified in his own defense. He testified that on the day of Youman's death, he originally went into his vehicle to search for a pack of cigarettes. R. 649, ll. 4-5. While looking in the vehicle, he did not find the cigarettes but did see that he had left his firearm in the vehicle from the night before. R. 649, ll. 10-12. The holster for the firearm and the firearm itself were separate, and he removed both from the vehicle. R. 649, ll. 12-14. While he was walking away, he attempted to place the firearm in its holster, at which time he accidentally fired it, striking and killing Youmans. R. 649, ll. 14-19.

The state called Creech during its reply case, and Creech testified that Appellant told him "the holster story." R. 695, ll. 16-19. Appellant informed Creech that he had placed the holster on a specific piece of furniture, but law enforcement never located it, despite searching for it "very thoroughly." R. 696, ll. 3-11. During the interview in Creech's vehicle, Appellant also told Creech a substantially similar series of events to what he testified to, that he had accidentally fired his pistol into Youmans while he was attempting to place the pistol in his holster. R. 697, ll. 6-15.

Statements to Agent Beeler

Prior to the first trial, Appellant requested a polygraph examination which was performed by Special Agent Brad Beeler of the United States Secret Service. R. 90-93. Agent Beeler administered this polygraph at the Lexington County Detention Center and then spoke with Appellant about the results of the examination immediately afterwards. R. 105, ll. 15-25. Prior to

administering the polygraph, Beeler advised Appellant of his *Miranda* rights; he stated that he told Appellant:

Before I ask you any questions, you must understand your rights. You have the right to remain silent. Anything you say can be used against you in court or other proceedings. You have the right to talk to a lawyer for advice before I question you *and have them with you during questioning*. If you cannot afford a lawyer and want one, one will be appointed to you by the court. If you decide to answer questions now without a lawyer present, you will still have the right to stop questioning at any time.

R. 100, ll. 6-16 (emphasis added). However, Beeler later testified that, in fact, Appellant's attorney would not have been allowed to be present with Appellant while he was questioned. R. 110, ll. 6-14. And defense counsel was informed that he would not be permitted to be present with Appellant during the questioning. R. 121, ll. 12-14.

On those grounds, Appellant objected to the introduction of the statement. R. 121-122. He renewed that objection during the second trial. R. 326, l. 17 – 327, l. 20. The trial court admitted the statements during both trials. R. 138, l. 8 – 139, l. 18; 328, l. 2.

Agent Beeler testified at trial that Appellant admitted to him that his previous statements to law enforcement were untrue. R. 594, ll. 1-4. He further testified that Appellant stated he was frustrated with Youmans because she had been seeing another man and that he was “flexing” on her by pointing the firearm at her and then discharged it by accident. R. 595, ll. 3-11; 597, ll. 17-21. Appellant denied saying this during his own testimony. R. 657, ll. 21-24.

Ultimately, the jury convicted Appellant of murder, and Judge McCaslin sentenced him to forty-five (45) years' imprisonment. R. 714; 718.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

As to Issue I, this Court sits to review errors of law and reviews a trial court's factual findings only for clear error. *State v. Parker*, 391 S.C. 606, 611, 707 S.E.2d 799, 801 (2011). A factual finding is clearly erroneous if there is no evidence to support it. *State v. Provet*, 405 S.C. 101, 107, 747 S.E.2d 453, 456 (2013).

As to Issues II and III, this Court reviews a trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence for abuse of discretion. *State v. Medley*, 417 S.C. 18, 24, 787 S.E.2d 847, 850 (Ct. App. 2016). "An abuse of discretion arises from an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Irick*, 344 S.C. 460, 464, 545 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2001)). This Court's review of the sufficiency and necessity of *Miranda* warnings is *de novo*. *State v. Lowery*, 443 S.C. 473, 480, 905 S.E.2d 361, 364 (2024).

ARGUMENTS

I.

Re-trial was barred by Double Jeopardy because the state goaded Appellant into moving for a mistrial.

The state wanted to convict Appellant for “murder or nothing.” R. 712, l. 24. When its own evidence required the trial court to charge involuntary manslaughter, the experienced solicitor made three distinct mistakes that were so elementary as to be suspicious; her closing argument attempted to shift the burden of proof, implied that the judge had already decided critical facts, and told the jury that it had to “decipher the law.” The state goaded Appellant into moving for a mistrial, and his subsequent re-trial violated his rights under the Double Jeopardy Clauses of the federal and state constitutions. Appellant’s conviction must be vacated.

“No person shall...be subject for the same offence to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb....” U.S. Const. amend. V; S.C. Const., art. I, § 12 (“No person shall be subject for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy of life or liberty....”). The Double Jeopardy Clauses of the federal and state constitutions command that “a defendant may not be prosecuted for the same offense after an acquittal, a conviction, or an improvidently granted mistrial.” *Parker*, 391 S.C. at 612, 707 S.E.2d at 801 (*quoting State v. Coleman*, 365 S.C. 258, 263, 616 S.E.2d 444, 446 (Ct. App. 2005)). A salient feature of the Double Jeopardy Clauses’ protections is to protect the “valued right to have [a defendant’s] trial completed by a particular tribunal.” *Wade v. Hunter*, 336 U.S. 684, 689 (1949).

Typically, when a *defendant* moves for a mistrial, there is no bar to retrial if that motion is granted. *See, e.g., United States v. Scott*, 437 U.S. 82, 93 (1978) (defendant moving for mistrial himself constitutes “a deliberate election on his part to forgo his valued right to have his guilt or

innocence determined before the first trier of fact”). Under the federal Constitution, there is one exception to this rule: when the government intentionally “goads” the defendant into moving for a mistrial, jeopardy attaches, and retrial is barred. *Oregon v. Kennedy*, 456 U.S. 667, 676 (1982).

Here, Appellant’s mistrial motion in his first trial was based on three separate and distinct grounds of prosecutorial misconduct. This Court should vacate Appellant’s convictions for two reasons. First, the trial court’s finding that the solicitor did not intentionally goad Appellant into moving for a mistrial appears to be based solely on the solicitor’s unsworn representations to the trial court to that effect. Those representations are not evidence, and the overwhelming weight of the other facts known to the trial court compels a different finding. Therefore, the trial court’s factual finding is clearly erroneous and must be reversed. Second, this Court should hold that the South Carolina Constitution’s Double Jeopardy Clause bars retrial when the state recklessly causes a defendant to move for a mistrial. The United States Supreme Court has held that the Fifth Amendment Double Jeopardy Clause requires actual intent by the prosecutor to goad the defendant into moving for a mistrial. However, that standard has proven inadequate and unworkable. Therefore, this Court should decline to follow it under the South Carolina Constitution.

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