STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

Appeal from Lexington County  
The Honorable Debra R. McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge

---

**RECEIVED**

**Jun 01 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

BRANDON LEE CORDER,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2023-001543

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

W. JOSEPH MAYE  
Assistant Attorney General  
State ID #100851

Office of the Attorney General  
Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6307

S. R. HUBBARD, III

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

The solicitor argued in response that "make it make sense" was in reference to their duty to determine the facts (presumably in a logical way) for the case and that such was not inappropriate. It was simply a colloquialism to the jury's duty to determine the facts in this case. (Tr. Mar 2, p. 69). Regarding the judge not charging accident, the solicitor argued that he believed it appropriate given Appellant's repeated claims in the audio to this being an accident, and that the concept of accident was also addressed in relation to whether the gun malfunctioned. The solicitor had never seen a case where mentioning the absence of a defense and charge was inappropriate, and that the argument she was raising was distinct from the question of involuntary manslaughter. (Tr. Mar 2, p. 70-71). Lastly, regarding the phrase "decipher the law," the solicitor argued that at

the outset of this case the parties have juxtaposed two separate theories of the case: murder versus involuntary manslaughter. As a result, the jury is left to determine the facts in a unique case and then apply those facts between those two sets of laws. She could identify nothing improper with using the term as she did. The solicitor concluded her arguments by requesting the motions for mistrial be denied for lack of any error of law in her argument. (Tr. Mar 2, p. 73).

In response, Appellant added that the discussion of accident blurred the distinction between the defense of accident, accidental discharge, and the factual explanation of the crime as an accident. An indication of the absence of a charge from the court has the effect of suggesting the court holds a certain position or opinion as to the facts of the case.

Though the court did not offer an opinion as to whether there was actual error on the part of the solicitor as to the first and third arguments, it noted that concerns raised by the appellant could be easily addressed through instructions.<sup>6</sup> However, the Court ultimately concluded that the “accident” issue warranted the grant of a mistrial, noting that the solicitor’s comment “brings the judge right into the jury’s deliberations, and it gives them the impression that I made some ruling that I haven’t made.” (Tr. Mar 2, p. 76). The court goes on to say:

And, you know, it’s easy for us lawyers to sit here and talk about accident, but we’re talking about the legal sense of accident as to whether he is entitled to a defense or not. They don’t know that, they think accident as something totally different, and in this case, particularly, I’ve heard the word accident several times in the defendant’s own statement, and I feel like he would be absolutely prejudiced.

...  
I know nothing was done intentionally, this Court does not believe it was done intentionally, it just happened. And you know, sometimes it does happen. So I’m declaring a mistrial, thank you.

(Tr. Mar 2, p. 76-77).

---

<sup>6</sup> The court did not go so far as to make explicit findings that the Solicitor’s actions were in error. She merely indicates that that concerns raised could be fixed by instruction.

In pre-trial motions before Appellant’s retrial, counsel moved to dismiss the case, arguing that double jeopardy attached to the prior trial because the State “goaded” Appellant into a mistrial motion. Appellant cited to *State v. Parker*, 391 S.C. 606, 707 S.E.2d 799 (2011) and *Oregon v. Kennedy*, 456 U.S. 667, 102 S. Ct. 2083, 72 L. Ed. 2d 416 (1982). (Tr. Sept 25, p. 34-39). The State responded by noting that *Parker* is indeed the applicable case, but highlights the fact that *Parker* requires a showing of *intent* to subvert the protections of the double jeopardy clause. As the Appellant has not and cannot demonstrate that there was any intent to goad a mistrial motion, double jeopardy cannot attach. (Tr. Sept 25, p. 39-41). In response, Appellant attempted to argue that “[a]ny action by the government that forces my hand and forces me to make a mistrial motion on a direct action. . .” is “an action by the State that goads.”

The court curtly disagreed. The court noted that it recalled this case and the parties’ efforts to avoid the mistrial, reviewed its notes from the first trial, and found that the issue causing the mistrial was not “goaded” and was not intentional. The court then went on to note that the particular issue was one that was intertwined with the law of accident and the law of involuntary manslaughter, and that the manner in which it came out simply placed the court in a position where it could not provide an instruction that could extract itself from the fact finding. The motion was therefore denied under the controlling authority. (Tr. Sept 25, p. 43).

#### *Discussion*

Appellant’s argument that his case should have been dismissed on the basis of double jeopardy is both factually and legally incorrect. The trial court correctly found that there was no basis for dismissal on double jeopardy grounds as the prior mistrial was not the result of a goading or intentional misconduct by the solicitor, just as it had previously found when it ruled on the motion for mistrial. (Tr. Sept 25, p. 43; Tr. Mar 2, p. 76). And, under the standard of review, there

most certainly is no basis for clear error supporting reversal. Factual findings are left to the discretion of the trial court and Appellant has failed to prove an abuse of discretion in this case.

The law, established by both the United States Supreme Court and the South Carolina Supreme Court, sets forth that “[p]rosecutorial conduct that might be viewed as harassment or overreaching, even if sufficient to justify a mistrial on defendant’s motion . . . does not bar retrial absent intent on the part of the prosecutor to subvert the protections afforded by the Double Jeopardy Clause. . . Only where the governmental conduct in question is intended to ‘goad’ the defendant into moving for a mistrial may a defendant raise the bar of double jeopardy to a second trial after having succeeded in aborting the first on his own motion.” *State v. Parker*, 391 S.C. 606, 612, 707 S.E.2d 799, 802 (2011) (quoting *Oregon v. Kennedy*, 456 U.S. 667, 675–76, 102 S.Ct. 2083, 2089, 72 L.Ed.2d 416 (1982)). “The trial court’s findings concerning the prosecutor’s intent is a factual one and will not be disturbed on appeal unless clearly erroneous.” *Id.*, (quoting *State v. Coleman*, 365 S.C. 258, 263, 616 S.E.2d 444, 447 (Ct. App. 2005)). Under the law, and under the standard of review, Appellant’s argument fails.

The record demonstrates that the concept of “accident” was addressed in multiple ways during the course of the trial, including the legal defense of accident. This is very clearly what the solicitor was referring to when he referenced such not being “legally an accident[,] it’s not a defense, and you’ll know that because the Judge is not going to charge you on that.” The problem with the argument is that jurors are not lawyers and they are not necessarily able to distinguish between the legal defense of accident and lay person factual findings that equate to “an accident.” That was not an intended consequence of the solicitor, and that difficulty was explicitly identified by the trial court as to how this issue arose. The awarding of a mistrial was appropriate, but Appellant cannot use his mistrial to now claim himself immune from retrial.

The record from the first trial demonstrates that the Court, without prompting from either party and without notice of future arguments for double jeopardy, ruled *sua sponte* that the error was not intentional. It is clear, given her explanation of the issue and the reasoning for her ruling that this finding was based upon the context of the trial and the nature of the error. These are matters Appellant omits in his claim for double jeopardy protection, claiming instead that only an express confession from the solicitor could ever amount to evidence of intent under *Parker*. Appellant's argument for double jeopardy is further *weakened* by the defense counsel's repetitious efforts to obtain a mistrial. Appellant's other arguments for mistrial were wholly insufficient for such a motion. Contrary to the arguments of "intent" made by Appellant, it more so appears that Appellant was *probing* for a mistrial motion, given that he made four total motions for such, three of which being meritless, and then sought to evade prosecution of his client entirely by claiming double jeopardy. (See Tr. Feb, p. 222; p. 226). The failure of the defense's arguments at trial are accentuated by the stark misunderstanding of the law, wherein defense counsel even denied the need for showing intent and rested on the assertion that simply *any* mistrial motion that a defense attorney feels "forced" into making, is sufficient to constitute a goaded mistrial that forbids retrial. (Tr. Sept 25, p. 42-43).

The arguments raised on appeal do little more and the record thoroughly supports the court's ruling. First, Ms. Fuller did not articulate any denial of intent coupled with a concession of error. She stood by the arguments raised in the first trial closing as simply not being erroneous and not being a basis for mistrial. It is not until the pre-trial double jeopardy motion that the question of intent is addressed, and therein, it is Mr. McNair that argues a lack of intent because that is the legal standard required. Moreover, the facts surrounding the issue do not support the Appellant's theory of "goaded," given that the state participated in extensive efforts with the court to try and

construct a curative instruction that would fix the issue; a result the State desired given the confidence in their case.<sup>7</sup> Moreover, this was not an issue where the State had been given prior warnings on the issue that were then disregarded. Appellant also attempts to claim that the error in question was obvious, and therefore goading, because there are no circumstances wherein a court's opinion of the facts can be made known to the jury. This argument is misleading as to the nature of the error, as it is clear from Ms. Fuller's argument that she was speaking *to the law of accident*, and not to supposed factual opinions of the court. The error had the unintended consequence of potentially being misinterpreted, but it was not a flagrant assertion of the court's opinion as to the facts of the case.

Appellant attempts to rely upon *Cone v. State*, 443 S.C. 487, 905 S.E.2d 368 (2024) for support of his argument. Appellant's reliance is entirely misplaced, however, considering the fact that *Cone* did not address a mistrial double jeopardy matter. It was a matter of first impression that reversed the Court of Appeals, *in 2024*, on a matter specific to the idiosyncrasies of Section 16-3-652. The case is not just distinguishable, it is both factually and legally irrelevant. *Parker* is the best comparison here, and *Parker* demonstrates the propriety of the court's ruling.

In the alternative to his argument that the trial court actually erred, Petitioner pivots to an argument that the standard established by *Oregon v. Kennedy* and adopted by our Supreme Court is inappropriate because the subjective intent of the prosecutor could never be established, absent a confession by the prosecutor. Such is simply not true. The circumstances of how an error originates can be quite revealing as to the question of intent, as the circumstances prove here, but here they demonstrate *the lack of intent* on the part of the solicitor. The absence of prior warnings,

---

<sup>7</sup> Objectively, such an argument is compelling when the amount of evidence against Appellant is considered.

the multifaceted nature of “accident” in this case, the efforts by the State to avoid a mistrial, and the overwhelming evidence against Appellant all demonstrate the propriety of the ruling and the standard. What Appellant’s alternative argument demonstrates is simply his inability *to meet that standard*.

In any case, the proposed standard from Arizona and Michigan favored by Appellant still requires a finding that the prosecutorial misconduct “‘amounts to intentional conduct’ which the prosecutor knows or should know to be improper, and which he pursues for ‘any improper purpose with indifference to significant resulting danger of mistrial or reversal.’” Appellant falls woefully short of satisfying this standard too, and this standard in application is almost indistinguishable from the standard currently used. Appellant urges this new standard on the basis of the South Carolina Constitution’s protections against double jeopardy – but such are almost identical to the U.S. Constitution, and there is therefore no state law distinction that justifies the abandonment of the standard set forth in *Kennedy*.

Appellant was rightfully retried, he was rightfully convicted, and the law is rightfully established. This Court should affirm.

**II. The trial court correctly found that the pre-Miranda statements made by Appellant were admissible, but regardless, the disputed pre-Miranda statements were never offered into evidence.**

***Issue as it was presented at trial***

A *Jackson v. Denno* hearing was conducted during Appellant’s first trial. Thereafter, Appellant moved to suppress Officer Creech’s interview of Appellant. The motion was denied. At his retrial, Appellant moved for suppression, again arguing custody was established, and added the testimony of Appellant on the matter. Additional testimony from Sergeant Creech was also offered in the motion hearing. The trial court again denied the motion. After review, Respondent cannot

find any instance where the recordings or the testimony of Officer Creech for pre-*Miranda* statements were ever offered into the record by the State.<sup>8</sup>

### *Discussion*

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in ruling his pre-*Miranda* statements to Sergeant Creech were admissible as part of a noncustodial interrogation. Appellant is mistaken. However, Appellant concedes in footnotes 6 and 10 that the recording in question was never admitted and that Appellant did not pursue a *Seibert* argument in the second trial. Moreover, Respondent can find no portion of the record where the pre-*Miranda* statements were offered into evidence by the State. Appellant is challenging a ruling on the admissibility of evidence never admitted, and as such, he cannot satisfy the necessity that prejudice arise from the trial court's ruling. This plainly defeats any merit to the claim as a basis for reversal. If error exists at all, it is harmless by default. Moreover, the ruling of the trial court was appropriate. Appellant was not in a custodial interrogation at any time prior to the officer's reading of *Miranda* warnings, therefore no portion of Appellant's statements could be deemed inadmissible. There is no error of law for which reversal can be based.

Respondent does not concede that there was any error of law by the trial court in this matter. However, because the disputed evidence was never admitted at trial, the strongest and most straightforward argument against Appellant's claim is that he has unquestionably failed to demonstrate prejudice. *State v. Collins*, 409 S.C. 524, 537, 763 S.E.2d 22, 29 (2014) ("The

---

<sup>8</sup> The Exhibit in question is State's 43. Appellant has included it as "State's Exhibit 7 from the Reconstruction Hearing (Audio of Creech BWC)." See Appellant's Designation of Matter. That exhibit does not appear in the listed exhibits in the transcript, Sergeant Creech did not testify in the State's case-in-chief, and his testimony in Reply was limited to statements made by Appellant after he was read his *Miranda* rights. Appellant, on direct examination, testified that he eventually told officers where the gun was located (the last comment before Creech endeavored to give *Miranda* rights). The "holster story" was given entirely post-*Miranda*.

harmless error rule generally provides that an error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if it did not contribute to the verdict obtained.”). As the contested evidence was never introduced by the State, it cannot be said to have contributed to the verdict. Appellant’s argument for reversal *must* therefore fail.

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